TGEGKXGF.'813414235''45<6: ⊲7.''Vj qo cu'F0J cm''Engtm''Uwrtgo g'Eqwtv

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

#### WILLIAM P. AUBIN,

Petitioner,

v.

Case No. SC12-2075

UNION CARBIDE CORPORATION,

L.T. No. 3D10-1982

**Respondent.** 

#### ON REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL THIRD DISTRICT, STATE OF FLORIDA

## PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

THE FERRARO LAW FIRM, P.A.

#### **INTRODUCTION**

Petitioner/Plaintiff, William Aubin, seeks review of the decision in *Union Carbide Corp. v. Aubin*, 97 So. 3d 886 (Fla. 3d DCA 2012) (App. 1), in which the Third District overturned a jury verdict in favor of Mr. Aubin.

Petitioner, Mr. Aubin, has peritoneal mesothelioma, an incurable, fatal disease caused by his exposure to Union Carbide's asbestos product, "Calidria SG-210". The evidence at trial established that the defective design of Calidria SG-210 and the lack of adequate warnings about the risks of exposure to it caused Mr. Aubin's injury. A jury found Carbide strictly liable and negligent and apportioned fault among it and various end-product manufacturers. The trial court then entered final judgment for Mr. Aubin.

Ignoring this Court's precedent, the Third District reversed and held that the trial court had erroneously applied the Restatement (Second) of Torts: Products Liability to the strict liability claims, in violation of the Third District's adoption of the Restatement (Third) of Torts: Products Liability. Based on its application of Sections 2 and 5 of the Restatement (Third) and its own reweighing of the evidence, the Third District reversed for entry of a directed verdict on the strict liability design defect claim, despite acknowledging that Mr. Aubin had presented evidence that Calidria SG-210 was defectively designed and that exposure to the product had caused Mr. Aubin's mesothelioma. The Third District also reversed for a new trial on the failure to warn claims. Applying Section 5 of the Restatement (Third), the Third District held that the jury should have been instructed that Carbide could have discharged its duty to warn by

relying on intermediary end-product manufacturers, despite acknowledging Carbide's admission that it knew those intermediaries were not warning end users.

The Third District's decision openly ignores this Court's precedent and directly conflicts with decisions from this Court and other district courts on whether the Restatement (Third) of Torts: Products Liability applies to strict products liability claims in Florida; and, whether, in a products liability action based on a lack of adequate warnings regarding an unreasonably dangerous component, a court must instruct the jury that the component supplier can discharge its duty to warn end users by relying on its intermediary customers to give warnings. The decision also conflicts with decisions from this Court prohibitting district courts from reweighing causation evidence on review of the denial of a directed verdict. As demonstrated below, the Third District's decision was contrary to Florida law and should be quashed and the judgment for Mr. Aubin reinstated.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

In August 2008, William Aubin was diagnosed with malignant peritoneal mesothelioma, a form of cancer of the lining of the abdomen (T. Vol. VIII, p. 966; Vol. X, p.1078). Mesothelioma is a signal malignancy, meaning asbestos exposure is the only known cause in the United States (T. Vol. V, p.525; Vol. X, p.1147). Mesothelioma is a latent disease and can develop twenty or more years after exposure to asbestos, as it did in Mr. Aubin's case (T.Vol.V, p. 490-507). Unfortunately, it is an invariably fatal disease with no treatment or cure (T. Vol. X, p. 1087; XIII, p.1436).

2

The product at issue is Calidria SG-210. As explained below, Carbide manufactured Calidria SG-210 by processing raw chrysotile asbestos according to its own design specifications. Carbide designed Calidria SG-210 specifically for use in joint compounds and texture sprays, the uses of which create substantial amounts of respirable dust. Carbide knew this and knew that the inhalation of Calidria SG-210 fibers in dust can cause fatal diseases, including mesothelioma, yet Carbide took no measures to ensure that end users received warnings about these deadly hazards. Mr.Aubin breathed the dust generated from the use of joint compounds and ceiling sprays which contained Calidria SG-210 at the jobsite where he worked nearly every day for two years between 1972 and 1974, and, as a result, he developed mesothelioma.

#### The Evidence At Trial.

# A. The Defective Design of Carbide's Calidria SG-210 Caused Mr. Aubin's Injury. 1. The Evidence At Trial Established That Inhalation of Calidria Asbestos Fibers Causes Mesothelioma.

The evidence at trial established that all types of asbestos fibers, including chysotile<sup>1</sup>, cause mesothelioma (T.Vol. V., p.565-566, 574-75; Vol. XIII, p. 1422). The evidence also established that Carbide's Calidria asbestos is chrysotile asbestos and that, when inhaled or ingested, Calidria asbestos causes mesothelioma. Specifically, Dr. Arnold Brody, a PhD in cell biology and pathology, testified that, when inhaled, Calidria, which is chrysotile, causes asbestos disease, including mesothelioma (Tr. Vol. V, p.548-49, 580, 588). Dr.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Of the two major mineral forms of asbestos, Chrysotile, which is a Serpentine form, makes up 95% of commercially used asbestos in the U.S. (T.Vol. V, p.508).

Eugene Mark, a board certified professor of pathology at Harvard University, explained that Calidria must be inhaled or ingested to cause disease and that, when in a respirable form, Calidria causes mesothelioma (T. Vol. VIII, p.1422-24, 1443-44, 1498). Dr. Mark testified, within a reasonable degree of medical certainty, that Mr. Aubin's exposure to Calidria SG-210 through his work with and around joint compounds and texture sprays containing Calidria SG-210 caused his mesothelioma (*Id.* at 1427-1434).

Although Carbide presented Dr. Victor Roggli to testify that chrysotile exposure does not cause peritoneal mesothelioma, he acknowledged that others in the medical and scientific communities disagree with him, as do all U.S. Government health agencies (T.Vol. X, p.1110-1111, 1145-1148). Carbide's own documents and studies recognize that Calidria (chrysotile) exposure can cause mesothelioma. (*See* Pl.Ex. 6-8 and 16).

All of the expert witnesses at trial agreed that asbestos is a mineral which, if left in the ground, undisturbed and in its raw, natural state, presents little risk of harm (*E.g.*, T.Vol. XIII, p. 1443-1444). All of the experts also agreed that asbestos of any kind, including chrysotile (Calidria), must get into the body through inhalation or ingestion to cause disease, including mesothelioma (T.Vol. V, p.548; Vol. X, p.1103-05<sup>2</sup>; Vol. XIII, p. 1443-44, 1498). The equation is simple: if asbestos fibers do not enter the lungs, then they will not cause disease. In other words, asbestos only presents a danger to human health when it is removed from its natural state and incorporated into products which release its deadly fibers into respirable dust.

### 2. The Evidence At Trial Established That Carbide's Calidria SG-210 Asbestos Product Was Designed Specifically For Uses Known To Liberate Respirable Asbestos-Laden Dust.

Calidria SG-210 is a product made up of chrysotile asbestos processed by Carbide according to Carbide's design specifications. Specifically, Carbide mined raw chrysotile asbestos from the Coalinga deposit in California and marketed it under the trade name "Calidria" (T.Vol. XI, p.1237-40; Pl.Ex. 43, 51, 52). Using its "proprietary manufacturing process", Carbide milled and processed its Calidria (chrysotile) asbestos to different design specifications, known as "grades" (*Id.*). Carbide's corporate representative, Jack Walsh, explained that Carbide had three asbestos product lines, or grades, and numerous products or formulas in each grade (*Id.*).

SG-210 ("standard grade") was a Carbide asbestos product specifically designed and sold for use in joint compound and texture sprays (*Id.* at 1241-42; Pl. Ex. 51 & 52). According to Walsh and Carbide's marketing materials, SG-210 was a 99% pure asbestos product "designed to go twice as far" as other asbestos products (*Id.*). SG-210 was designed to make joint compound and texture sprays more absorbent and easier to apply (*Id.*; Vol.III, p.253). It is now beyond argument that Calidria SG-210 was a deliberately "designed" product (although Carbide continues to argue otherwise).

When used as intended, joint compounds require hand-sanding, which produces tremendous amounts of fine, respirable dust (*See* T. Vol. II, p.128-135, Vol. XI, p.1222-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Dr. Roggli agreed that asbestos must be inhaled to cause disease, although it is his unique opinion that Calidria asbestos does not cause mesothelioma.

23; Vol. IX, p. 947-57, 970-72; XIII, p.1421-22). Likewise, ceiling texture sprays (commonly known as "popcorn ceiling" spray) are applied by spraying them onto ceilings, creating a fine mist. The products then require scraping and cleaning, which also create significant amounts of fine, respirable dust. (*See* T. Vol. II, p.130-13; Vol. IV, p. 386-87; Vol. IX, p. 952-57). Jack Walsh testified that he and the Calidria salesforce knew that the end products for which they sold SG-210 would be sanded and scraped and that these processes produce dust (T. Vol. XI, p. 1280-81, 1299, 1317).

Thus, Carbide's design and marketing of SG-210 specifically for use in joint compounds and ceiling sprays, which Carbide knew would create respirable asbestos dust, created a danger to end-users which would not have existed but for that design.

### 3. Mr. Aubin Breathed Respirable Calidria Asbestos Fibers Through The Use of GP Ready Mix Joint Compound and Premix Marbletite Snowflake Texture Spray Containing Calidria SG-210.

Carbide designed, marketed and sold Calidria SG-210 to intermediary customers, such as Georgia Pacific ("GP") and Premix Marbletite ("Premix"), to be used as a component in their joint compounds and texture sprays (T. Vol. III, p.265-68; Vol.VI, p.621; Vol. XI, p.1280-81, 1299-1300, 1325-32). The evidence established that between 1972 and 1974, GP *Ready-Mix* and Premix *Snowflake* contained Calidria SG-210 (*Id.*).

Between 1972 and 1974, Mr. Aubin supervised the construction of approximately 70 homes in the Desoto Lakes development in Sarasota, Florida (T. Vol. IX, p.933-38, 961). He was on the jobsite almost every day. He walked into all of the homes at all stages of construction (T.Vol. II, p.138; *Id*.).

Mr. Aubin hung and finished drywall in the homes and routinely cleaned up after the subcontractors finished sanding the walls and spraying the ceilings (T. Vol. II, p.138, Vol. IX, p. 937-57). He testified that the homes were very dusty, especially from the drywall sanding and finishing and the ceiling spraying and scraping (*Id.*). The dust was very fine, like talcum powder, and any movement in areas where it accumulated would cause it to puff up in a light cloud (*Id.*). Mr. Aubin breathed that dust regularly and recalled its chalky taste (T.Vol. IX, p.949-50, 970-71). Unaware of any danger, neither Mr. Aubin nor any subcontractors working at Desoto Lakes wore protective gear, such as dust masks or respirators, when working in the homes (Vol. II, p.131; *Id.*).

Mr. Aubin recalled the brand names of the joint compounds used as GP and Kaiser (T. Vol. IX, p.952-57, 969-70). He recalled the 5-gallon buckets the joint compound came in and that he never saw a warning of any kind on them (*Id.* at p.958, 1006-07). The drywall subcontractor for Desoto Lakes, Nelson Yoder, purchased the joint compounds and ceiling texture sprays used at Desoto Lakes and identified by manufacturer the various types they used (T. Vol. II, p.153; Vol. IX, p.939, 952). Specifically, he identified, among others, GP *Ready-Mix* joint compound, which he said made up about 35% of the joint compounds used at the site, and he identified Premix *Snowflake* as the ceiling spray used about 50% of the time (T. Vol. II, p.124). Mr. Yoder confirmed the dusty atmosphere in the homes created by the use of the joint compounds and ceiling sprays and that he never wore or knew to wear protection (*Id.* at p.128-132).

Thus, as the result of Carbide's design of SG-210 for use in joint compounds and

texture sprays, Mr. Aubin was exposed to and breathed airborne, Calidria-laden dust.

## 4. Mr. Aubin's Exposure To Airborne Calidria Asbestos Fibers Through The Intended Use of Calidria SG-210 Caused His Mesothelioma.

Dr. Mark testified within a reasonable degree of medical certainty that Mr. Aubin's exposure to SG-210 in dust created through his work with and around joint compounds and texture sprays at Desoto Lakes was a substantial contributing cause of his mesothelioma (Vol. XIII, p.1427-34).

# **B.** Carbide Failed To Adequately Warn of The Dangers Associated With Exposure To Its Calidria SG-210 Asbestos Product.

# 1. The Evidence At Trial Established That Carbide Knew of The Dangers of Exposure to Its Calidria Asbestos But Concealed That Information From Its Customers.

Carbide has known about the health hazards of asbestos, including the causation of terminal diseases and death, since the 1930s and 40s, and well before it began selling Calidria products to GP and Premix (T.Vol. III, p. 297-300; Vol. IV, p.342; Def.Ex. G, H). In the 1960s, Carbide had substantial knowledge that asbestos could cause serious and fatal diseases (*see, e.g., id.*; Pl.Ex.8 (the "Sayers Report", discussed below)), but it concealed this information from its customers, such as GP and Premix, and from the ultimate consumers of its products, like Mr. Aubin (T.Vol.II, p.197; Vol.III, p.305-307; Vol.XI, p.1284; Vol.XII, p.1340, 1345). Indeed, Carbide blatantly held information back from its own personnel. (*See, e.g.*, Pl.Ex.4 (July 1963 letter from Carbide's medical director cautioning that information should not be readily available to plant personnel)).

In 1965, Carbide's then director of toxicology, Dr. Carl Dernehl, adopted a theory

(later totally discredited) that workers could safely work a lifetime with Calidria if dust particles were kept at levels lower than a 5 million particles per cubic foot ("PPCF") threshold limit value ("TLV"). Dr. Dernehl's "safe TLV" story was disseminated in Carbide's 1965 Asbestos Toxicology Report (Pl.Ex.5). In 1965, Carbide directed its asbestos sales force to use the Report to respond to questions from customers "[i]n order to counteract any serious problems or worries before they get out of hand." (*Id.*).

In July 1966, Carbide commissioned a study by the Mellon Institute (a Carbide affiliate (*see* T.Vol.III, p.300; Pl.Ex.21)) on the effects of asbestos fibers on animals. The Mellon Study demonstrated that *short* fibers (like Calidria) caused the *most severe* reaction – *more severe* fibrotic lesions in the visceral organs of rats (Pl.Ex.6 (emphasis added)). At that point, if not before, Carbide knew that its short-fiber TLV story was a farce, yet Carbide continued to encourage sales personnel to distinguish Calidria from bad press about asbestos by using the 1965 Toxicology Report (*See* Pl.Ex.15).

In late 1967, Dr. I.C. Sayers, of Carbide's United Kingdom toxicology department, prepared a 19-page report: "Asbestos as a Health Hazard in the United Kingdom" (PI.Ex.8). The "Sayers Report" pointed out that the public was increasingly aware of the health risks associated with Carbide's Calidria; that Dr. Dernehl's "safe" TLV story "is now no longer held to be true by a number of informed people"; that there were 500 documented cases of lung cancer and mesothelioma in the United Kingdom caused by exposure to asbestos dust; that mesothelioma "is the most disturbing of the three diseases attributable to asbestos..."; *that even a brief exposure can produce* 

*mesothelioma after a long latency period*; that cases have occurred in the United States, Candada, and Britain in which *people exposed only to chrysotile have developed mesothelioma*; that laboratory tests indicated that asbestos was a powerful carcinogen; and that *all forms of asbestos, including chrysotile, produce mesothelial tumors (Id.* (emphasis added)). Dr. Sayers warned, "[W]e are not entitled under any circumstances to state that *our material* [Calidria] is not a health hazard" and that Carbide had a duty to warn customers about the hazards (*Id.* (emphasis added)).

Dr. Dernehl wrote to Carbide's Medical Director in June of 1967 that the Sayers Report was "reasonably accurate"; that based on the 1966 Mellon injection study, **Calidria might be** *more hazardous* **than long-fiber asbestos**; and, that *a 5-million PPCF TLV for Calidria was not acceptable for the prevention of mesothelioma* (Pl.Ex.7 (emphasis added)). Indeed, he said a limit of *one million PPCF for Calidria might not be safe for the prevention of mesothelioma* (*Id.* (emphasis added)). Later, in a March 1970, memo, Dr. Dernehl stated that with respect to the development of mesothelioma, "[i]t would be **prudent to assume that Calidria Asbestos will behave like other asbestos**..." and that "the same precautions to avoid breathing asbestos dust must be observed whether the dust be from Calidria Asbestos or from standard long fiber form" (Pl. Ex.21) (emphasis added).

Despite Dr. Sayers' clear admonition of the dangers of Calidria and Dr. Dernehl's acknowledgement of it, Carbide continued to perpetuate the myth (as it does today) that Calidria is not as dangerous as other asbestos. *See, e.g.* Pl. Ex.19 (January 1968 Carbide memo); Pl. Ex.26 (May 1969 Carbide letter to customer) (both state no connection has been

shown between chrysotile asbestos and asbestosis or mesothelioma). Carbide failed to provide updated or accurate information to its customers, as reflected in a November 1971 Carbide report of a meeting with customer Glidden-Durkee which indicates that the customer had been given only the outdated 1965 Asbestos Toxicology Report, despite the clear advances in contrary knowledge since that Report had been issued. (Pl.Ex.28). Clearly, Carbide had developed a wealth of alarming information about the dangers of Calidria before that 1971 meeting, yet it concealed that information from its customers.

Tellingly, in June 1972, after the Mellon Study and Sayers Report, Carbide issued a memo to Calidria sales personnel directing them to use high pressure sales tactics to mislead and divert Calidria customers with aggressive sales tactics designed to make the customers feel their fears of asbestos are "irrational" (Pl. Ex. 23). Meanwhile, salesman Jack Walsh conceded that while he had a long list of documents "available" for customers, he only brought a few of those to meetings with customers, including: Material Safety Data Sheets that do not even indicate that asbestos is a hazard (see Pl. Ex. 29); the statement of Dr. George Wright to the Department of Labor explaining that the data concerning the hazards of asbestos exposure is inconclusive (see Pl.Ex. 74); and the OSHA regulations (see Pl.Ex. 71) (T.Vol. XI, p. 1254; Vol. XII, p.1336-41). He explained that other information about asbestos was "available" to customers if they had "specific questions" (Id.). He did not use or provide toxicology reports, and he had never even seen the 1967 Sayers Report or the Mellon reports while employed (Id.).

Notably, GP corporate representative Howard Schutte testified that none of the

documents Carbide claims to have made available to its customers was found in GP's archived documents, although GP made a concerted effort to store and maintain all documents it had received concerning asbestos (T.Vol. VI, p. 688).

Not only did Carbide salesmen not provide customers with sufficient information about the risks of Calidria, but Mr. Walsh admitted that he regularly told customers that no one at Carbide's plant ever got sick from exposure to Calidria (*Id.* at p. 1337-40). Carbide's failure to provide adequate information to customers worked in concert with the sales strategy of downplaying the risks of Calidria exposure. *See* Pl.Ex. 36 (1971 Report of Call to GP in which Carbide salesman states that he attempted to place GP's concern over asbestos toxicology into "proper perspective"); Pl.Ex. 47 (1973 Report of Call to GP in which Carbide salesman states he convinced GP representative that asbestos could be used safely); Pl.Ex. 58 (1975 Report of Call to GP in which Jack Walsh indicates he advised the GP representative that they should tell any concerned contractors that they could eliminate the risks of asbestos by wet sanding the products).

# 2. Carbide Was Aware That Its Intermediary Customers Were Not Warning Their Customers and End-Users of The Dangers.

As a result of Carbide's misinformation, Carbide's customers were not including warnings with their end products, and Carbide knew this. For example, an April 1971 Memo shows that after meeting with a Carbide salesman, the customer decided not to use a warning label on its end product (Pl. Ex. 27). Similarly, in a 1976 Customer Call Report, the Carbide salesman reports that customer pointed out that Carbide's bags do not have a label warning that the bags contain a known carcinogen and that Carbide and

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