#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

#### WILLIAM P. AUBIN

Petitioner,

Case No. SC12-2075

v.

L.T. No. 3D10-1982

#### UNION CARBIDE CORPORATION,

Respondent.	

\_\_\_\_\_

### RESPONDENT UNION CARBIDE CORPORATION'S ANSWER BRIEF

MATTHEW J. CONIGLIARO Florida Bar No. 63525 CARLTON FIELDS, P.A. 4221 West Boy Scout Blvd., Ste. 1000 Tampa, FL 33607

Telephone: (813) 223-7000 Facsimile: (813) 229-4133

E-mail: mconigliaro@carltonfields.com

smartindale@carlton fields.com

tpaecf@cfdom.net

DEAN A. MORANDE Florida Bar No. 807001 CARLTON FIELDS, P.A. 525 Okeechobee Blvd., Ste. 1200 West Palm Beach, FL 33401-6350

Telephone: (561) 659-7070 Facsimile: (561) 659-7368

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

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Plaintiff and his amici frame this case as a choice between, on the one hand, § 402A of the Second Restatement, which they characterize as "intended to have manufacturers bear the cost of injuries resulting from defects in their products," and, on the other, §§ 2 and 5 of the Third Restatement, which they say seek to "shift more of the product-related accident costs to accident victims" and "absolv[e] manufacturers and suppliers of liability for unreasonably dangerous products." Ini. Br., at 30-31. Plaintiffs also argue that §§ 2 and 5 "represent a radical departure from Florida law and have been rejected by the vast majority of State Supreme Courts to have considered whether to adopt them." *Id.* at 31.

Plaintiff's focus on the supposed differences between the two Restatements is an exercise in misdirection. As he *conceded* in the proceedings below and again in his Initial Brief here, the Third District's decision did not hinge on supposed differences between the Restatements. All the sound and fury about whether the risk/utility test or the consumer expectations test should be applied to a design defect claim, and whether the duty to warn instruction should have been analyzed under §§ 2 and 5 of the Third Restatement or § 388 of the Second Restatement, are simply beside the point.

Rather, this proceeding raises two straightforward issues, neither of which has anything to do with which Restatement applies. The first is whether, assuming that a reasonable jury could have found that UCC's processing of SG-210 constituted a defective design, there was any evidence showing that such processing increased Plaintiff's risk of contracting mesothelioma. As shown in Point I below, the Third District correctly held that Plaintiff presented no such evidence in this case.

The second issue is whether the trial court committed reversible error with respect to Plaintiff's failure to warn claim. As shown in Point II below, the Third District correctly held that (1) under both Restatements, whether a raw material supplier has discharged its duty to an end user of a finished product incorporating the raw material is a factual issue that turns on the reasonableness of the supplier's

conduct under all of the facts and circumstances, and (2) the trial court misled the jury by simply instructing that UCC had a duty to warn Plaintiff without explaining how UCC could discharge that duty without directly warning him.

Putting aside Plaintiff's diversionary discussion concerning the merits of the two Restatements, Plaintiff's argument that the Third District's decision should be reversed relies on two extreme positions that are themselves contrary to wellsettled principles of products liability law. First, Plaintiff contends that the decision to remove a mineral with hazardous characteristics from the ground and sell it for a particular purpose is a "design," that the fact that the mineral is inherently hazardous constitutes a "defect," and that the requirement that the defect cause the harm is met if "but for" the decision to mine and sell the mineral, the Plaintiff would not have been injured. Second, Plaintiff argues that because a supplier of an inherently dangerous raw material can never rely on intermediary manufacturers to warn end users about the hazards of finished products containing those materials, it is not error for a court to give an instruction from which a jury could conclude that the supplier had a duty to warn end users directly. Although asbestos is the most litigated product in the history of American law, UCC has found no decision by the highest court of any state that has recognized either of these extraordinary propositions.

In the end, Plaintiff's arguments about the relative merits of the two

Restatements constitute a request for an advisory opinion on issues this Court need not resolve. In Point III below, UCC addresses these matters and shows that §§ 2 and 5 of the Third Restatement are consistent with Florida law as it has evolved since publication of the Second Restatement and with the overwhelming weight of national authority. If the Court addresses such matters, it should adopt §§ 2 and 5.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### **Standard of Review**

Plaintiff's points raise questions of law. The Court reviews them *de novo*. *McKenzie Check Advance of Fla., LLC v. Betts*, 112 So. 3d 1176, 1180 (Fla. 2013).

- I. THE THIRD DISTRICT CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT THERE WAS NO EVIDENCE THAT THE "DESIGN" OF SG-210 CAUSED PLAINTIFF'S INJURY UNDER EITHER RESTATEMENT.
  - A. The Third District Correctly Held, and Plaintiff Agreed Below, That the Standard for Proving Causation Is the Same Under Both Restatements.

UCC argued below that the asbestos it sold as SG-210 was not "designed," but rather, was a naturally occurring mineral. The Third District disagreed, holding that because the raw asbestos that UCC mined was subject to proprietary processing, a jury could have found that SG-210 was a defectively designed product. The court concluded, however, that UCC was entitled to a directed verdict on the design defect claim because there was no evidence that this design—*i.e.*, the processing—made UCC's asbestos more likely to cause Plaintiff's mesothelioma

than would unprocessed asbestos. 97 So. 3d at 897-98; *accord Riggs v. Asbestos Corp. Ltd.*, 304 P. 3d 61, 69 n.11 (Utah Ct. App. 2013) (rejecting plaintiff's claim that UCC's processing could support a design defect claim because plaintiff had "not asserted that this process was conducted defectively or that it somehow made raw asbestos 'unreasonably dangerous' beyond its inherent qualities").

The Third District explained that its holding was "not based on any discrepancy between" the two Restatements because the causation requirement "is identical under the Second Restatement and the Third Restatement." *Id.* at 903 (citing *Liggett Group, Inc. v. Davis*, 973 So. 2d 467, 475 (Fla. 4th DCA 2007)). The Third District's analysis was correct.

Plaintiff argues that the Third District's opinion should be reversed because it improperly applied the Third Restatement when Florida law requires application of the Second Restatement. Ini. Br., at 23-32. He contends that the Third Restatement improperly shifts the costs of unsafe products to consumers and that the Second Restatement is the proper legal framework to analyze design defect claims because it supposedly captures Florida's policy of providing relief to those injured by defective products. *Id.* at 28-32.

Plaintiff's contention that this case hinges on whether the Second or Third Restatement applies is belied by his oft-repeated position in the proceedings below that "[w]hether this Court applies the Second or Third Restatement, the result is the

same." Pl. 3DCA Ans. Br. at 37; *see also id.* at 24, 27, 31. Plaintiff's Initial Brief here effectively concedes the same point, arguing that the Third District correctly concluded that there was evidence from which a jury could find that SG-210 was defectively designed under *both* Restatements. Ini. Br., at 37.

## B. In An Attempt To Circumvent The Third District's Causation Holding, Plaintiff Has Abandoned The Design Defect Theory He Argued Below.

Plaintiff argues that the Third District "failed to understand what the intended design [of SG-210] was." Ini. Br., at 35. This argument is puzzling because the Third District accepted the definition of SG-210's design that Plaintiff himself had advanced.

In the proceedings below, Plaintiff conceded that "the Court correctly stated that a product's defective design, rather than its basic, raw, and naturally occurring characteristics, must be shown to cause a plaintiff's harm to establish liability." Pl. 3DCA Mot. for Rehearing, at 8. But he argued that the relevant product was SG-210, not raw asbestos, and that SG-210 was a "designed" product because UCC's marketing materials stated that its processing yielded asbestos with an "unusually high fiber content" and "touted the Calidria product as being designed to go 'twice as far' as other 'commercial grade Asbestos." Pl. 3DCA Ans. Br., at 41. Plaintiff also argued that "the evidence established that Carbide's design of SG-210 to present Calidria in a more pure form for use in joint compounds and texture sprays

was more dangerous to Mr. Aubin than Calidria in its raw form and caused Mr. Aubin's mesothelioma." *Id.* at 10. The Third District accepted Plaintiff's description of SG-210's "design," and agreed that his evidence "was sufficient to reach the trier of fact for a determination as to whether SG-210 Calidria was 'designed' within the meaning of section 2." 97 So. 3d at 896 (citing *McConnell v. Union Carbide Corp.*, 937 So. 2d 148, 152 (Fla. 4th DCA 2006)).

In an effort to avoid the problem that processing asbestos did not make it more likely that Plaintiff would contract mesothelioma, he now changes course and argues for a broad new definition of design. He now argues the "intended design" of SG-210 is taking asbestos out of the ground—where it is safe—and processing it for use in products that emit respirable fibers. He then contends that "Mr. Aubin breathed Caldiria fibers as a result of the defective design of SG-210," and that "but for Carbide's design of SG-210, Mr. Aubin never would have been exposed, and, therefore, never would have contracted mesothelioma." Ini. Br., at 39.

To the extent that Plaintiff's argument is that the processing of SG-210 made it more likely that the products in which it was incorporated would emit respirable fibers, the argument fails because there is no evidence that UCC's proprietary processing made joint compounds and sprays any more likely to emit respirable fibers than they would have been if they had incorporated *unprocessed* asbestos. But Plaintiff appears to be arguing a much more expansive theory that (1) the

intent to sell an inherently dangerous raw material for use in particular products constitutes the raw material's "design" and (2) causation can be shown by evidence that the raw material is more dangerous in the stream of commerce than it would be if left undisturbed in the ground and, "but for" the raw material's sale, Plaintiff would not have been harmed.

Under Plaintiff's new theory, 1 raw materials have as many different "designs" as they have uses, and they will *always* be deemed "designed" products, even if they are sold in their pure natural state, so long as they are sold for an "intended use." Ini. Br., at 38. This expansive theory constitutes a radical departure from bedrock principles of products liability law.

### C. Plaintiff's Design Defect Theory Contravenes Well-Settled Principles of Florida Products Liability Law and Products Liability Law Nationwide.

The sale of chemicals and other raw materials that have inherently dangerous qualities has been a necessary and commonplace business practice in America since the advent of the industrial revolution. Persons harmed by such products have sought recovery for their injuries in countless judicial proceedings on a variety of legal theories. But no state supreme court decision of which we are

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> As a matter of basic appellate practice, this new argument is not preserved. Plaintiff did not assert it below. The parties did not litigate it, and the Third District did not consider it. Accordingly, this Court should not consider it for the first time. *See, e.g., Sunset Harbour Condo. Ass'n v. Robbins*, 914 So. 2d 925, 928 (Fla. 2005) (specific argument must be preserved in lower court).

aware has ever held that the intent to sell an inherently dangerous raw material, either for use in unmediated form or for incorporation in the products of others, constitutes a "design."

The only cases of which UCC is aware that have concluded that mining and marketing a raw material constitutes a design are *Arena v. Owens-Corning Fiberglass Corp.*, 63 Cal. App. 4th 1178 (Cal. Ct. App. 1998), and the handful of California intermediate appellate court cases that followed it. *Arena* is an asbestos case, and in the fifteen years since it was decided, not a single court from any other jurisdiction in the country has followed it. Indeed, UCC has searched more than a thousand decisions that have been published since the inception of asbestos litigation more than three decades ago and has been unable to find a single additional case that has ever held that mining and selling asbestos for a particular purpose constitutes a "design." No doubt mindful that *Arena* is an outlier, and distinguishable, Plaintiff does not cite or rely on it in his brief before this Court.

The only case that Plaintiff cites in his discussion of the Third District's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Arena and the other California cases are plainly distinguishable because in those cases the seller of raw asbestos had not provided any warnings to its customers. Indeed, in *Garza v. Asbestos Corp. Ltd.*, 161 Cal. App. 4th 651, 661-62 (2008), a case applying *Arena*, the court noted that the seller of a raw material for incorporation in other products would not be liable if it provided adequate warning to its customer because "its responsibility must be absolved at such time as it provides adequate warnings to the distributor who subsequently packages, labels and markets the product." Here, by contrast, there was abundant evidence that UCC provided warnings to its customers.

supposed "incorrect interpretation" of what constitutes SG-210's design is *McConnell*. It is true that the Third District followed *McConnell*'s reasoning in concluding that UCC's *processing* of its raw asbestos could make SG-210 a designed product. But this does not support the propositions that the Third District "failed to understand what the intended design [of SG-210] was" (Ini. Br., at 35), that the intent to sell SG-210 for use in joint compounds and sprays is its design, or that the design is defective if asbestos is more dangerous in the stream of commerce than in the ground. For those extraordinary propositions, Plaintiff cites neither *McConnell* nor any other authority.

To be sure, *McConnell* stated that "the intended use [of Calidria Asbestos]... contemplates the liberation of asbestos in the air where it can be inhaled." 937 So. 2d at 150. But *McConnell* concluded that this fact "was ample evidence to go to the jury on the claim of a defective product without warnings." *Id.* UCC agrees that knowledge of the intended use of a raw material is relevant to the seller's duty to warn. *See*, *e.g.*, *Tampa Drug Co. v. Wait*, 103 So. 2d 603, 608 (1958) (where the seller was "thoroughly familiar with the uses to which the commodity might be put," it "was charged with the burden of forewarning potential users of the inherently dangerous nature of the commodity"). But no Florida court, and no state supreme court, has ever held that such knowledge constitutes a product's *design*.

There is no authority for Plaintiff's new design defect theory because it

contravenes several fundamental principles of products liability law. The first problem with Plaintiff's theory is that basic raw materials found in nature are not designed products, and thus their design cannot be the cause of a plaintiff's injury. This is, in the first instance, a matter of common sense. By definition, no one "designs" basic raw materials found in nature. Courts and commentators have agreed. See Rest. 3d Torts § 5, cmt. c; Riggs, 304 P. 3d at 69 (holding that UCC's asbestos "could not be defectively designed or manufactured because it is a raw unadulterated material") (citing Rest. 3d Torts § 5, cmt. c, and Cimino v. Raymark Indus. Inc., 151 F.3d 297, 331 (5th Cir. 1998)). Indeed, Plaintiff acknowledged as much in the proceedings below, conceding that "a product's defective design, rather than its basic, raw, and naturally occurring characteristics, must be shown to cause a plaintiff's harm to establish liability." Pl. 3DCA Mot. for Rehearing, at 8. If Plaintiff was harmed, as he now argues, because UCC mined and sold asbestos for use in sprays and joint compounds, he was harmed by its "basic, raw and naturally occurring characteristics," not by a product defect in its "design."

A second problem with Plaintiff's new theory is that it is well settled in Florida and elsewhere that products, including raw materials, are not defective merely because they are inherently dangerous. Rest. 3d Torts § 2, cmt. a ("products are not generically defective because they are dangerous"); Rest. 2d Torts § 402A, cmt. j ("product bearing . . . a warning which is safe for use if it is followed, is not

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